

State of South Dakota

EIGHTY-NINTH SESSION
LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY, 2014

417V0041

HOUSE JUDICIARY ENGROSSED NO. **SB 65** - 03/10/2014

Introduced by: Senators Kirkeby, Heineman (Phyllis), Krebs, Lucas, Maher, and Rhoden and Representatives Gosch, Campbell, Hickey, Magstadt, Novstrup (David), Rozum, and Tyler

1 FOR AN ACT ENTITLED, An Act to revise and clarify voter eligibility for road district
2 elections.

3 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA:

4 Section 1. That § 6-16-2 be amended to read as follows:

5 6-16-2. The application for organization shall be a petition verified by one or more
6 circulators by affidavit stating that each affiant personally witnessed the signatures on the
7 petition and believe the signatures to be genuine. Except as provided in this section, the petition
8 shall be signed by at least twenty-five percent of the registered voters within the proposed
9 district. If the proposed district is in two or more counties, a petition shall be filed in each
10 county and each petition shall be signed by at least twenty-five percent of the registered voters
11 within the proposed district in that county. The petition shall be accompanied by a deposit
12 covering the estimated costs as determined by the county auditor of the public notices and the
13 conduct of the election for the formation of the district. The county auditor may waive the
14 deposit or payment requirement or may specify other arrangements for payment of the



1 publication and election costs. If the district to be formed is a road district ~~that contains no~~
2 ~~registered voters~~, the petition shall conform to the requirements of § 31-12A-3 and shall be
3 signed by at least twenty-five percent of the ~~landowners~~ eligible voters of the district as defined
4 in section 5 of this Act. If the district to be formed is a watershed district, the petition shall be
5 signed by at least twenty-five percent of the eligible voters of the district as defined in § 46A-
6 14-15.1 and as provided in § 46A-14-5. If the district to be formed is a water project district, any
7 petition required by this section shall be signed by qualified voters of the proposed district, as
8 defined in §§ 46A-18-2.1 and 46A-18-2.2, in the appropriate county.

9 Section 2. That § 6-16-5.2 be amended to read as follows:

10 6-16-5.2. If a majority, or if it is a water project district at least sixty percent, of the votes
11 cast in an election conducted pursuant to § 6-16-5.1 is in favor on the question of formation of
12 the special district, an election shall be conducted by the county auditor within sixty days after
13 the official canvass to elect the initial board of directors or trustees. The election shall be
14 conducted pursuant to Title 12. The county auditor shall publish a notice of vacancy no later
15 than fifty days prior to the election. Circulation of nominating petitions may begin upon
16 completion of the official canvass of the election to form the district. Nominating petitions shall
17 be filed with the county auditor by 5:00 p.m. at least thirty days before the election. The
18 nominating petitions shall contain signatures of at least twenty-five ~~registered~~ eligible voters in
19 the district as defined in § 6-16-6. Absentee ballots shall be made available to the voters no later
20 than twenty days before the date of election. The election shall be canvassed by the county
21 commission.

22 Section 3. That § 6-16-6 be amended to read as follows:

23 6-16-6. Any person who is registered to vote and resides in the proposed district may vote
24 in the elections provided for in § 6-16-5. However, the qualifications of a voter for irrigation

1 district elections are as provided in chapter 46A-4, the qualifications of a voter for water project
2 district elections are as provided in §§ 46A-18-2.1 and 46A-18-2.2, ~~and~~ the qualifications of a
3 voter for watershed district elections are as provided in § 46A-14-15.1, and the qualifications
4 of a voter for road district elections are as provided in section 5 of this Act. Absentee voting is
5 allowed pursuant to chapter 12-19 for the election on the question of formation of the special
6 district or any other question to be voted on by the eligible voters of the district. ~~If the district~~
7 ~~to be formed is a road district that contains no registered voters, voter eligibility is based solely~~
8 ~~on landowners.~~ For the purpose of this section, a person resides in a proposed district if the
9 person actually lives in the proposed district for at least thirty days in the last year.

10 Section 4. That § 31-12A-1 be amended to read as follows:

11 31-12A-1. Any area outside the boundary of a municipality, which is situated so that the
12 construction or maintenance of roads becomes desirable, may be incorporated ~~by its landowner~~
13 ~~or landowners~~ as a road district pursuant to this chapter.

14 Section 5. That chapter 31-12A be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read
15 as follows:

16 As used in this chapter, the term, eligible voter, has the meaning specified in this section.
17 Only persons or public corporations that are landowners of land located within the proposed or
18 existing road district are eligible to vote in the formation election or any subsequent election of
19 a road district, except as provided in this chapter. An eligible voter may reside within or outside
20 the district. Any firm, partnership, limited liability company, association, estate, or corporation
21 that holds title to land located within the proposed or existing road district is entitled to one vote
22 and may designate an officer or agent to vote on its behalf by presenting a written instrument
23 to that effect to the election officials. The vote of any eligible voter who is a minor or a
24 protected person as defined by § 29A-5-102, may be cast by the parent, conservator, or legal

1 representative of the minor or protected person.

2 As used in this chapter, the term, landowner, means any owner of land other than a
3 governmental entity, as evidenced by records in the offices of the register of deeds and the clerk
4 of courts in the county containing a proposed or existing road district. If land is sold under a
5 contract for deed that is of record in the office of the register of deeds in the county in which the
6 land is situated, both the landowner and the individual purchaser of the land, as named in the
7 contract for deed, are treated as landowners.

8 Section 6. That § 31-12A-1.1 be amended to read as follows:

9 31-12A-1.1. Notwithstanding any other provision of chapter 31-12A, an area with three or
10 fewer landowners may be formed into a road district pursuant to this chapter. Each landowner
11 shall be a trustee at large and no election of trustees is required. After the district is incorporated
12 and the number of landowners within the district is five or more, the district shall conduct an
13 election pursuant to § 31-12A-16 to elect the board of trustees. The district shall conduct the
14 election on the first Tuesday after the anniversary date of the formation of the district.

15 Section 7. That § 31-12A-2 be amended to read as follows:

16 31-12A-2. Any ~~landowner~~ person making application for the organization of a road district
17 shall first obtain an accurate survey and map of the territory intended to be embraced within the
18 limits of ~~such the~~ road district, showing the boundaries and area ~~thereof, and the~~ of the district.
19 The accuracy thereof of the survey and map shall be verified by the affidavit of the surveyor.

20 Section 8. That § 31-12A-3 be amended to read as follows:

21 31-12A-3. ~~Any landowner who owns~~ Not less than twenty-five percent of the eligible voters
22 as defined in section 5 of this Act who own land lying within the limits of the territory proposed
23 to be organized into a road district may file a petition with the board of county commissioners
24 asking that a road district be organized to function in the territory described in the petition. The

1 petition shall be filed with the county auditor and presented to the board of county
2 commissioners for consideration at its next meeting. The petition shall conform with the
3 requirements of § 6-16-2 and shall set forth:

- 4 (1) The proposed name of the road district;
- 5 (2) That there is need for road work in the territory described in the petition;
- 6 (3) A description of the territory proposed to be organized as a road district;
- 7 (4) A request that the board of county commissioners define the boundaries for the
8 district; that a referendum be held within the territory so defined on the question of
9 the creation of a road district in the territory; and that the board determine that such
10 a district be created.

11 Section 9. That § 31-12A-5 be repealed.

12 ~~— 31-12A-5. The application for organization shall be as provided in § 6-16-2 and shall be~~
13 ~~filed with the county auditor and presented to the board of county commissioners for~~
14 ~~consideration at its next meeting.~~

15 Section 10. That § 31-12A-6 be amended to read as follows:

16 31-12A-6. If the board of county commissioners is satisfied that the requirements of this
17 chapter have been fully complied with, it the board shall issue an order declaring that the
18 territory shall, with the assent of the eligible voters, as specified in § 6-16-2, in an election as
19 provided in § 6-16-4 to 6-16-6, inclusive, be an incorporated road district by the name specified
20 in the ~~application~~ petition. The name shall be different from that of any other road district in this
21 state.

22 Section 11. That § 31-12A-15 be amended to read as follows:

23 31-12A-15. In each road district, after the initial election provided for in §§ 6-16-5 and 6-16-
24 5.2, an annual election of officers shall be held on the first Tuesday in May at a place in the

1 district as the board of trustees shall designate. Unless otherwise specified, the election shall be
2 conducted according to chapter 8-3, at a meeting of the ~~registered voters who reside in~~ eligible
3 voters of the road district.

4 Section 12. That § 31-12A-15.1 be amended to read as follows:

5 31-12A-15.1. Notice of the meeting and election required by § 31-12A-15 shall be given by
6 the secretary-treasurer by one publication in a legal newspaper of general circulation in each
7 county in which the district is situated or notice may be given by posting in a public place within
8 the district and delivering the notice to each ~~registered~~ eligible voter of the district. The notice
9 shall include the time and place of the election and candidate names for each vacancy to be
10 filled at the election. The meeting shall be held not less than seven days nor more than fourteen
11 days after the date of publication or delivery of the notice.

12 The same type of notice shall be given setting forth each vacancy occurring by termination
13 of the term of office of any elective officer. The notice shall also state the time and place where
14 nominating petitions may be filed for each office. The notice shall be given not less than thirty
15 days prior to the deadline for filing nominating petitions.

16 Section 13. That § 31-12A-16 be amended to read as follows:

17 31-12A-16. There shall be elected from among the ~~landowners~~ eligible voters of the district
18 at the first election of a road district, held pursuant to § 6-16-5 or 6-16-5.2, three trustees at
19 large, who shall respectively hold their offices, one for a term of one year, one for a term of two
20 years, and one for a term of three years. The person having the highest number of votes shall
21 serve for a term of three years, the person receiving the second highest number of votes shall
22 serve for a term of two years, and the person receiving the third highest number of votes shall
23 serve for a term of one year, and such persons shall be declared elected to such offices;
24 ~~thereafter~~. Thereafter, in accordance with §§ 31-12A-15 and 31-12A-15.1, there shall be elected

1 annually one trustee for a term of three years. The judges shall subscribe and certify a statement
2 of the persons elected to fill the offices of trustees in ~~such~~ the road district and file the ~~same~~
3 statement with the county auditor within ten days after the date of ~~such~~ the election.

4 Section 14. That § 31-12A-17 be amended to read as follows:

5 31-12A-17. ~~The trustees to be elected at the initial election, shall be nominated by the voters~~
6 ~~in attendance at the meeting in which the organizational election is held. If the initial trustees~~
7 ~~are to be elected at the meeting at which the incorporation election is held as provided in § 6-16-~~
8 ~~5, the trustees shall be nominated by the eligible voters in attendance at the meeting. Otherwise,~~
9 ~~the initial trustees shall be nominated as provided in § 6-16-5.2. Any trustee to be elected at any~~
10 ~~subsequent ~~elections~~ election, shall be nominated by filing with the district clerk not less than~~
11 ~~fifteen days before any the subsequent election, ~~certificates~~ a certificate of nomination for the~~
12 ~~offices office of trustee. The ~~certificates~~ certificate shall be in writing and shall contain the name~~
13 ~~of the candidate, residence, business address, and the office for which the candidate is named,~~
14 ~~and shall be signed by at least five percent of the ~~qualified~~ eligible voters.~~

15 Section 15. That § 31-12A-23 be amended to read as follows:

16 31-12A-23. The board of trustees may cause the amount of any charges, and interest and
17 penalties on the charges, for road district service rendered or made available to any land within
18 and part of the district, which are due and unpaid on the first day of October in each year to be
19 certified by the clerk of the district to the county auditor in the manner provided in § 10-12-7
20 together with any taxes levied by the district for corporate purposes. All amounts so certified
21 shall be inserted by the county auditor upon the tax list of the current year and are payable and
22 delinquent at the same time and shall incur penalty and interest and shall be collected by the
23 same procedure as real estate taxes on the same property. In the event of a tax sale or the
24 issuance of a tax deed, the provisions of §§ 9-43-39 to 9-43-41, inclusive, apply to all amounts

1 so certified and then delinquent, in the same manner as delinquent installments of special
2 assessments. Five percent of the ~~landowners~~ eligible voters of the district may petition the board
3 of trustees for referendum of any special assessment or bond issue. A majority of ~~all~~ the
4 ~~landowners of~~ eligible voters of the district who own the lots, tracts, or parcels of land subject
5 to a special assessment or bond issue by the road district is required for approval of the special
6 assessment or bond issue. For purposes of a referendum, if more than one person holds an
7 interest in a lot, tract, or parcel of land subject to a special assessment or bond issue, the vote
8 for ~~such~~ the lot, tract, or parcel of land shall be exercised as the owners may among themselves
9 determine and in no event may more than one vote be cast with respect to any one lot, tract, or
10 parcel of land in any referendum. The referendum shall be governed, to the extent applicable,
11 by chapter 9-20. The referendum petition shall be filed with the clerk of the district within
12 twenty days after the notice of the levy of the special assessment or bond issue has been given
13 the landowner.

14 Section 16. That § 31-12A-27 be amended to read as follows:

15 31-12A-27. A majority of the ~~qualified~~ eligible voters of a road district may petition a court
16 of competent jurisdiction for the dissolution of the road district. Dissolution proceedings shall,
17 to the extent applicable, conform to the provisions for dissolution of municipalities pursuant to
18 chapter 9-6.

19 Section 17. That § 31-12A-28 be amended to read as follows:

20 31-12A-28. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 31-12A-27, the board of trustees of a road
21 district may ~~be, by~~ by unanimously adopting a proper resolution, provide for the dissolution of the
22 district and the disposition of all unencumbered assets and assets which may thereafter accrue.
23 ~~Prior to adopting such~~ Before adopting the resolution, the board shall give notice and conduct
24 hearings as ~~it~~ the board deems necessary. Any party feeling aggrieved by the decision of the

1 board may appeal to the circuit court.

2 Section 18. That § 31-12A-30 be amended to read as follows:

3 31-12A-30. The governing body of each road district described in § 31-12A-29 shall submit
4 by resolution the question of consolidation to the eligible voters of each road district at a special
5 election called for that purpose pursuant to chapter 6-16. The proposition shall be submitted to
6 the eligible voters of each road district on a separate ballot and shall be stated as to enable each
7 eligible voter to vote for or against the proposed consolidation.

8 Section 19. That § 31-12A-31 be amended to read as follows:

9 31-12A-31. If the eligible voters of each road district approve the formation of the
10 consolidated road district by a majority of the votes cast on the consolidation question, the
11 governing body of each road district shall so declare by resolution and file a certified copy of
12 each proceeding taken for the consolidation with the road district's clerk, the secretary of state,
13 and the county auditor. After the certified copies are filed, the consolidation is effective and
14 complete, and the consolidated road district has the powers conferred upon a road district by this
15 chapter.

16 Section 20. That § 31-12A-32 be amended to read as follows:

17 31-12A-32. The consolidated board of trustees shall be elected as provided in chapter 6-16
18 and this chapter and shall govern the consolidated road district as provided in this chapter.

19 Section 21. That § 31-12A-36 be amended to read as follows:

20 31-12A-36. An additional area may be annexed or an area withdrawn from a road district
21 by:

- 22 (1) Circulation of an initiating petition ~~therefor by the qualified~~ by the eligible voters in
23 the ~~new~~ area to be annexed and in the existing district, similar to an initiating petition
24 specified in this chapter; or

1 (2) Circulation of an initiating petition by the ~~qualified~~ eligible voters in the ~~affected~~ area
2 to be withdrawn and passage of a resolution therefor by the directors of the road
3 district.

4 Upon receipt of an initiating petition and passage of a resolution by the directors, the area
5 shall be annexed or withdrawn in the same manner as prescribed for creation of a new road
6 project district.